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I. INTRODUCTION

Tan Phan overcame an abusive and chaotic childhood in
Vietnam and moved to Seattle at age 22, where he was
diagnosed with mental illness. In his twenties, he was
repeatedly hospitalized and tried to kill himself several times.

In June 2020, Mr. Phan drove to a close friend’s home
and confronted the friend’s parents. Despondent, Mr. Phan slit
his wrists in the front yard, broke a window, and drove his car
right into the family’s home. When the police arrived, Mr. Phan
begged them to shoot him as he live-streamed the incident.

Mr. Phan was charged with first degree burglary and
other charges. Despite his evident mental health issues and lack
of legal training, he was permitted to waive counsel and waive
a jury trial. In accepting Mr. Phan’s “waiver” of his right to
counsel, the court advised Mr. Phan that he only faced “75
percent of 15 to 20 months” incarceration. Mr. Phan was not
told he could face substantial additional mandatory

punishment, including additional charges and a 24-month



deadly weapon enhancement, as he did when the State amended
the information shortly thereafter.

Even when Mr. Phan became confused during the trial,
asked to change his defense to “insanity,” and produced
psychiatric records related to his psychiatric hospitalizations,
the court did not revisit whether Mr. Phan was competent to
conduct his own defense. The court sentenced Mr. Phan to 54
months incarceration, including a 24-month consecutive deadly
weapon enhancement, even though Mr. Phan was not informed
of this possibility when he waived his right to counsel.

This Court should accept review because the amendment
of an information — particularly to include a mandatory
consecutive sentencing enhancement, as here — represents a
significant change in circumstances undermining the initial pro
se colloquy and requiring the court to conduct an additional

inquiry or colloquy.



I1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND RELIEF SOUGHT

Petitioner Phan seeks review of the Court of Appeals
decision affirming his conviction and holding no second pro se
colloquy is required under these circumstances.

I11. ISSUE PRESENTED

An accused person’s waiver of the right to counsel is
presumed invalid and must be proved valid by affirmative
evidence demonstrating they understood the nature of the
charges faced as well as the potential penalties if convicted at
the time they waived the right to counsel. When the court failed
to inform Mr. Phan of the substantial increase in potential
punishment that occurred when the prosecution added another
offense as well as a sentencing enhancement, Mr. Phan was
deprived of his right to counsel without a valid waiver. Is the
Court of Appeals decision affirming the conviction thus in
conflict with published decisions of the Court of Appeals,
meriting review?

RAP 13.4(b)(2).



V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Mr. Phan experiences childhood trauma in
Vietnam before moving to Seattle, where he
struggles with mental illness.

Tan Phan was born in the rural farming community of
Phan Rang in southern Vietnam. CP 86. His mother, Hoa Phan,
did her best to raise her son alone after Tan’s father abandoned
them. CP 86. When Tan was 12, he briefly met his father, a
heroin addict, just before his father’s death from AIDS. CP 86.
When Mr. Phan was young, he was raised by his maternal
grandparents in their village while his mother worked as a
karaoke hostess in Saigon. CP 86-87. Hoa sent for her son to
join her in Saigon when he was five years old. CP 86.

In Saigon, Mr. Phan was mistreated and abused by his
mother, and later, by his new stepfather. CP 87. Mr. Phan was
repeatedly thrown out of the house and learned to survive on
his own at age 12. CP 87. Mr. Phan’s mother eventually saved
enough money to send her son to study in America when he

reached age 22. CP 88-89.



Mr. Phan started a new life in Seattle. CP 88. He studied
at Highline Community College and the University of
Washington, meeting new American friends. RP 6. He also
created several small businesses, starting a rental car company
and other projects. CP 89. However, none of his achievements
managed to calm Mr. Phan’s increasing anxiety, and he began
to have serious mental health symptoms. CP 89.

Socially, Mr. Phan found adjusting to life in the United
States very difficult. CP 89. Mr. Phan had lived as a closeted
gay man in Vietnam, where he believed his sexual orientation
would bring shame upon himself and his family. CP 89. When
he started his new life in Seattle, he began dating men, but the
deterioration of a serious relationship resulted in his self-
medicating with illegal substances; this proved catastrophic to
his existing serious mental health conditions, including bipolar
disorder with psychotic features. CP 84, 89-91. Mr. Phan
associated treatment for mental health and addiction with

shame and societal evil — a cultural framework from Vietnam;



this deterred him from seeking needed treatment. CP 90 (citing
studies).!

On Christmas Eve 2019, Mr. Phan became extremely
distressed and tried to kill himself at the Southcenter Mall. RP
463-66; CP 72; CP 84. He stripped off his clothing, threw his
travel documents in the garbage, and attempted to jump off a
balcony in front of holiday shoppers. RP 463-66. His mother,
now relocated to Seattle, quickly rescued him, along with some
employees. RP 464-66. Mr. Phan was held at Fairfax Hospital
for 72 hours. RP 466. When Mr. Phan was released to his
mother’s custody, she hid all of the medications and sharp
objects in her home. Id. Mr. Phan attempted to overdose on
medications in his mother’s home the following week, resulting
in another hospitalization at Valley Medical Center, and then a

third time at Fairfax in early 2020. RP 466-67.

1 Mr. Phan’s aunt commented to his attorney, “A person
can’t have mental illness and run a business, can they?” CP 91.
Mr. Phan attempted to hide his bipolar symptoms. CP 91.



Joel Berger, Mr. Phan’s American friend, recalled
another suicide attempt at the Alderwood Mall. RP 443-44. Mr.
Phan’s behavior was so extreme, Joel? said it seemed that Mr.
Phan was hallucinating. Id. Joel recalled that Mr. Phan often
discussed killing himself between December 2020 and March

2021. RP 441, 445.

2. Mr. Phan’s relationship with Joel Berger leads to
obsession, delusion, and tragic results.

Joel Berger, an American student, and Mr. Phan became
friendly between 2015 and 2020. RP 432-33. Initially, the
friendship was warm and reciprocal. RP 432-33. The two
young men played video games at Joel’s childhood home in
Northeast Seattle, and Joel even invited Mr. Phan to his
parents’ home for Thanksgiving, along with other international
students. RP 354, 364, 385. Mr. Phan felt deeply connected to

Joel, and believed their relationship caused Joel to break off his

2 Because the Berger family shares a last name, Joel’s
first name is used for clarity.



own engagement. RP 482. Joel denied any romantic
relationship and later sought to minimize contact with Mr. Phan
when the friendship turned “toxic.” RP 370-73, 433. Joel said
Mr. Phan pressured him to make plans, and Joel was “not able
to have my own life separate from this friendship.” RP 434.
When Mr. Phan told Joel that he would be going back to
Vietnam in March 2020, Joel agreed this was a good idea,
because Mr. Phan always “seemed happier” there. RP 448.
When Mr. Phan returned to Seattle from Vietnam in June
2020, Mr. Phan’s mental health immediately destabilized. RP
489. Mr. Phan found himself unable to stop thinking of Joel
and began to email Joel repeatedly. RP 434. When Joel did not
respond to Mr. Phan’s increasingly desperate emails, Mr. Phan
immediately assumed this must be the fault of Joel’s parents,
Jerald (Jerry) and Linda Berger. RP 489-90. Mr. Phan
concluded the elder Bergers did not approve of his relationship
with Joel and had turned Joel against him due to what Mr. Phan

assumed must be their homophobia. RP 489-90.



Mr. Phan decided to contact Mr. and Mrs. Berger to
assess whether he was correct about their disapproval, and to
ask them to reach out to Joel. RP 490. Mr. Phan also intended
to “apologize” for any possible offenses he had committed
against the Berger family in the past. RP 489. Mr. Phan first
tried to contact Mrs. Berger by sending her a Facebook
message, which she deleted without reading, as Joel had
suggested to her. RP 356-57, 367-68, 503-04.

On the morning of June 15th, Mr. Phan again tried to
connect with Mrs. Berger by sending her a Facebook “friend
request,” which she declined. RP 353. Mr. Phan also began
“desperately” emailing Joel a series of messages, none of which
Joel answered. RP 435-40, 489. The emails to Joel were
increasingly fraught, begging, “You need to unlock me and call
me” and “I’m coming to your house right now.” RP 437, 489.
Becoming more distressed, Mr. Phan emailed Joel that he
would have “revenge” and would “call out your name and your

entire homophobic family... all over the internet.” RP 439.



Shortly after sending the final email on June 15th, Mr.
Phan drove his car to Joel’s parents’ home — a place he knew
Joel no longer lived. RP 489-90. Mr. Phan knew his way to the
Berger family home due to his previous visits. RP 354, 364,
385, 491.

On this day, Mr. Phan said he had been drinking and had
taken “almost 100 pills.” RP 508. Mr. Phan’s Tesla easily
navigated to the Berger home, and Mr. Phan knocked on the
front door. RP 489. Mr. Phan asked to speak with Linda
Berger, intending to apologize for any past offense. RP 489.
Jerry Berger answered the door and refused Mr. Phan entrance.
RP 355-56, 382-84. After Mr. Phan realized he would not be
allowed to come inside, Mr. Phan recalls that he panicked and
“totally lost my mind that day.” RP 490.

Mr. Phan went back to his car, pulled out a steak knife,
and began slicing at his wrists. RP 491. He walked back to the
Berger house and began yelling the word “homophobic” and

“f-ing homophobes” repeatedly. RP 383, 490. He approached
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the front window of the house and punched through one of the
window panes, holding the knife. RP 387-90, 492. He then
broke another window pane, yelling, “Homophobic!” RP 387-
90, 492.

Jerry Berger armed himself with a kitchen knife, while
Mrs. Berger hid in the kitchen. RP 390. Mr. Phan retreated into
his Tesla and seemed to be driving away. RP 406-07. A few
moments later, Mr. Phan’s car careened into the front of the
Berger home at a high rate of speed. RP 360-61, 408-10. Mr.
Berger thought Mr. Phan could not have survived the impact of
the crash. RP 412.

A few minutes later, Mr. Phan emerged from the car,
dazed from the accident and still bleeding from his slashed
wrists. RP 239-40, 413. Armed law enforcement soon arrived,
and Mr. Phan begged them to shoot him. RP 208-10. Mr. Phan
was holding his cell phone upright from the moment he exited
the car, begging the police to kill him and attempting to

livestream his suicide. RP 192-93, 413; CP 73.
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Mr. Phan was charged with attempted burglary in the
first degree. CP 1-2.

3. Mr. Phan is permitted to proceed pro se, despite
his evident mental illness.

Mr. Phan was permitted to proceed without counsel and
represent himself, despite his significant mental health
impairment and history. RP 20-24; CP 12. He also waived his
right to a jury trial. RP 10; 10/2/20 RP at 6-11; CP 24.

Mr. Phan expressed profound misunderstanding about
the proceedings, stating he would prefer to waive his right to a
“judge trial and jury trial also.” 10/2/20 RP at 5. Mr. Phan said
that going to trial would be “time consuming and costly for the
court.” Id. Yet he was not given a plea offer or an option to
plead guilty, nor was he asked if he understood the
consequences of going to trial. He stated he believed if he
waived his right to counsel and a jury trial, the judge would

have “empathy and sympathy” for him. RP 20. The trial court

12



assured Mr. Phan this was not the case, and that pro se
representation “almost never works out well.” RP 20-21.

The court then misinformed Mr. Phan of the full
consequences of waiving the right to counsel, saying the top of
his range was 15 months incarceration. RP 13. The court never
informed Mr. Phan that the prosecutor could amend the
information to add additional counts, and there could be a
substantial increase in mandatory punishment if a deadly
weapon enhancement was added before trial. CP 33-34; RP 38.

Despite the lack of information about his sentencing
consequences, the trial court found Mr. Phan waived his rights
to counsel and to a jury trial. CP 12; CP 24; RP 20-24; 10/2/20
RP at 6-10.

In addition, despite Mr. Phan’s evident mental health
Issues, the court never ordered an evaluation to assess his
competency. Because no competency evaluation was
conducted, Mr. Phan’s manic, delusional behavior that resulted

in the charges was not assessed. The court did not examine Mr.

13



Phan’s involuntary hospitalizations or psychiatric records until
after the trial, even though Mr. Phan attempted to introduce
them. RP 470.

Shortly after Mr. Phan waived his jury trial right, the
State amended the information to add one count of burglary in
the first degree and a deadly weapon enhancement. CP 33-34;
RP 38.

Following a bench trial, Mr. Phan was convicted of
burglary in the first degree and attempted burglary in the first
degree, and the court found the deadly weapon enhancement
was proved. CP 53-62. Rather than the sentence of between
11.25 and 15 months he had been told he was facing, RP 13,
Mr. Phan was sentenced to 54 months in prison, including a
mandatory 24-month enhancement. CP 94-102; RP 641.

Mr. Phan appealed, and on December 27, 2022,
following oral argument, the Court of Appeals affirmed his

conviction in a published opinion. Appendix.
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V. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals characterizes the issue on review
as the trial court’s “decision to do nothing.” Slip op. at 5. Yet a
judge has a much more serious responsibility than the Court
implies. The trial court is charged with protecting a criminal
defendant’s constitutional rights, including the right to counsel.
Because the Court of Appeals decision fails to acknowledge the
trial court’s error, in conflict with Division One’s own case
law, this Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

This Court should grant review because the Court of

Appeals erroneously concluded no additional pro se

colloquy is required where the prosecutor amends an

information and the defendant is sentenced to four

times the sentence they faced when they waived the

right to counsel.

1. The right to counsel may be waived only when the

defendant clearly understands the possible penalties
they face if convicted.

A valid and effective waiver of the right to the assistance
of counsel must unequivocally demonstrate that the accused is

competent, and knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily

15



waives the assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. 6; Const.

art. I, 8 22. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 835, 95 S. Ct.

2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975); State v. Silva, 108 Wn. App.

536, 539, 31 P.3d 729 (2001). The trial court must indulge
every presumption against the waiver of the right to counsel.

State v. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d 496, 504, 229 P.3d 714 (2010);

Silva, 108 Wn. App. at 539.

To ensure that a defendant “truly appreciates the dangers
and disadvantages of self-representation,” they must waive
counsel “with an apprehension of the nature of the charges, the
statutory offenses included within them, [and] the range of

allowable punishments thereunder.” United States v.

Moskovits, 86 F.3d 1303, 1306 (3d Cir. 1996) (quoting, inter
alia, Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835).

In Moskovits, the defendant received a 15-year sentence
after trial, but the court granted his motion for a new trial as
well as his motion to represent himself. 86 F.3d at 1305. The

court entered into a “lengthy and detailed colloquy” with the

16



defendant about the dangers and disadvantages of self-
representation but did not mention the possibility that
punishment could increase after a new trial. Id. at 1306.

When considering the validity of the waiver of counsel
on appeal, the court refused to assume that information
presented during the course of the first trial’s sentencing
hearing sufficiently informed the defendant of the possible
punishment he faced if convicted after a second trial. 1d. at
1307. Because a court must “indulge every reasonable
presumption against waiver of fundamental constitutional
rights,” it refused to impute some understanding of the
sentencing consequences to the defendant and held that the
waiver was inadequate. 1d. at 1308-09 (citing Johnson v.
Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 464, 58 S. Ct. 1019, 1022, 82 L. Ed. 1461
(1938)).

Similarly, in Silva, the defendant demonstrated his
understanding of the nature of the charges and their gravity.

108 Wn. App. at 540. Silva was familiar with trial practice and

17



he showed “exceptional skill” in his pretrial motions, similarly
to Mr. Phan, here. Id. at 540-41. But at the time Silva waived
counsel, he was not informed of the possible punishment he
faced. Id. at 541. The Court of Appeals held:

[E]Jven the most skillful of defendants cannot make an
intelligent choice without knowledge of all facts material to
the decision. Silva was never advised of the maximum
possible penalties for the crimes with which he was charged.

Absent this critical information, Silva could not make a
knowledgeable waiver of his constitutional right to counsel.

Although Silva received information about the standard
sentencing range, he was not informed that the judge had
authority to enter consecutive terms or otherwise impose an
exceptional sentence (in this pre-Blakely case).® The waiver of
counsel was otherwise based on adequate knowledge of the
law, but the court’s failure to explain the maximum possible

penalties he faced undermined the validity of the waiver of

3 Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531,
159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004).

18



counsel. Id.; see also United States v. Erskine, 355 F.3d 1161,

1168 (9™ Cir. 2004) (“Faretta waiver is valid only if the court
also ascertained that he understood the possible penalties he
faced”).

“On appeal, the government carries the burden of
establishing the legality of the waiver.” Erskine, 355 F.3d
1167. The “government has a heavy burden and that we must

indulge in all reasonable presumptions against waiver.” United

States v. Forrester, 512 F.3d 500, 507 (9th Cir. 2008); Patterson

v. lllinois, 487 U.S. 285, 298, 108 S. Ct. 2389, 101 L. Ed. 2d
261 (1988) (“we have imposed the most rigorous restrictions
on the information that must be conveyed to a defendant, and
the procedures that must be observed, before permitting him

[to] waive his right to counsel at trial.”).

19



2. Mr. Phan was not accurately informed of the
potential for a substantial increase in
punishment at the time he waived the right to
counsel.

During pretrial proceedings, Mr. Phan informed the court
that he wanted to represent himself. RP 10. The court asked
Mr. Phan about his English proficiency and his educational
background, but did not correctly explain the potential
punishment he faced. See Silva, 108 Wn. App. at 541-42.

The court told Mr. Phan he was charged with one count
of attempted burglary in the first degree, and the court asked
the deputy prosecutor what Mr. Phan’s standard range sentence
would be if he were convicted. RP 12. The prosecutor stated
the bottom of the range was 11.25 months and the top was 15
months. RP 13. The prosecutor said, “the range normally on a
burglary in the first degree would be 15 to 20 months.” RP 13.
Mr. Phan’s public defender at this stage agreed with this

assessment of the potential penalty. RP 13.

20



The court informed Mr. Phan that since he was only
charged with an attempted burglary, he would only face “75
percent of 15 to 20 months.” RP 14. The court also informed
Mr. Phan that the maximum penalty as charged would be 10
years in prison and a $20,000 fine. RP 14. On the court’s
representation of the potential penalties, Mr. Phan waived his
right to counsel. RP 20-24; CP 12. The court did not inform
Mr. Phan that his potential exposure was much higher; nor did
the State warn Mr. Phan that additional charges or sentencing
enhancements could be filed before trial.

The court’s explanation of potential penalties was
inadequate because the court erroneously told Mr. Phan that he
faced only one Class B felony — one count of attempted
burglary in the first degree — with a standard range of 11.25 to
15 months. RP 12-14. Yet at trial, Mr. Phan would actually face
a Class A and a Class B felony, due to the first-degree burglary
count the State added to the charge by amended information.

RP 38; CP 33-34. The State also increased Mr. Phan’s potential

21



exposure by charging a 24-month deadly weapon enhancement,
which mandates consecutive sentencing. RP 38; CP 33-34.

In reality, Mr. Phan did not face approximately 11-15
months incarceration when he gave up his right to counsel. He
faced well over 50 months, which is what he ultimately
received following his pro se trial, receiving a sentence of 54
months, including the consecutive enhancement. CP 97.

Mr. Phan was not accurately advised of the penalty he
faced upon his conviction for the most serious offense for
which he was convicted — burglary in the first degree. CP 53-
62; 94-102. The court did not advise this mentally ill pro se
litigant that his standard range had dramatically increased
following the amendment; nor did the court implement the
presumption against the waiver of the right to counsel when
Mr. Phan’s statutory maximum suddenly changed from 10
years to life imprisonment. RP 12; CP 33-34; CP 95. This
significant change in circumstances undermines the validity of

his pro se waiver. Silva, 108 Wn. App. at 541-42,

22



3. The significant change in circumstances in Mr.
Phan’s charges, enhancements, and potential
penalties triggered the requirement of another
pro se colloquy.

When there is a substantial change in the nature of the
punishment, the court must advise a pro se defendant of this
change to ensure the defendant’s decision to waive counsel
remains a valid assessment based on an understanding of the

risk faced by trial. See United States v. Hantzis, 625 F.3d 575,

581 (9" Cir. 2010).

After all, the trial court retains a responsibility to ensure
that when a constitutional right is waived, a defendant “knows
what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes open.” State_
v. Hahn, 106 Wn.2d 885, 889, 726 P.2d 25 (1986) (quoting
Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835).

Division One of the Court of Appeals has held that the
“mere addition of a new charge” does not amount to a
substantial charge in circumstances requiring a new pro se

colloguy. Slip op. at 9 (citing State v. Modica, 136 Wn. App.

23



434, 446, 149 P.3d 446 (2006)). Yet Mr. Phan’s case is

different from Modica in several ways. Most importantly, in

Modica, after a new count was added, the trial court actually
performed several short additional colloquies, asking Mr.
Modica several times whether he still wished to represent
himself. 136 Wn. App. at 446. This ensured that Modica’s
waiver of counsel remained his voluntary choice, despite the
new charge. Id. In addition, the subsequent charge in Modica
was less serious than the original charge, meaning the new
charge would not increase the potential punishment. Id.
These important differences between Modica and Mr.
Phan’s case are too hastily jettisoned by the Court of Appeals.
Slip op. at 9-10. The Court races through the differences from
its own precedent in Modica, apparently neglecting to notice
that the trial judge in Modica actually administered repeated

subsequent warnings to that defendant once subsequent charges

24



were brought.® The Court of Appeals’ failure to reconcile this
case with Modica places this opinion squarely in conflict with
its own precedent, calling for review by this Court. RAP
13.4(b)(2).

Finally, the Court of Appeals misapprehends the record
when it concludes that the appointment of counsel at
sentencing indicates that “all along — Phan knew how to make
such a request and also knew that — at all times — he had the
ability to pose such a request to the court.” Slip op. at 14-15.
This is incorrect. The court appointed counsel at sentencing sua
sponte. RP 580-82. Mr. Phan made no such request. In fact, the
record shows that but for the trial court’s suggestion, Mr. Phan
would have proceeded pro se to sentencing, as he had to trial.
RP 582. There is no support in the record for the Court of

Appeals’ conclusion that Mr. Phan knew during the trial that he

3 The Court of Appeals rapidly turns to an analysis of
federal case law, without adequately addressing Mr. Phan’s
challenge under article I, sec. 22, or distinguishing Washington
case law. Slip op. at 10-12.

25



could revoke his pro se waiver and ask the trial court to
reappoint counsel.”

The Court of Appeals also mistakenly pairs Mr. Phan’s
remorse with the outcome of the trial. Slip op. at 15 (“only after
being convicted did the circumstances change significantly
enough for him to change his mind as to the wisdom of his pro
se status™). This fails to acknowledge the main change in
circumstances — the change in Mr. Phan’s potential
punishment. Mr. Phan waived his right to counsel with the
understanding that he only faced 11 months in jail. As he said
to the court:

[R]ight after that, one, two week later, | got a

paper that say that my charge got upgraded to

burglary one with deadly weapon enhancement

and attempted burglary one total from 11 month

go up to eight year. And that freaked me out.

Because | thought going to trial, | have nothing to
lose even if I’'m innocent or not.

% The trial court notes that when this case was assigned,
she “was surprised it was [a] pro se bench trial on such a
serious charge.” RP 574.

26



RP 571.

Mr. Phan was not advised of the penalty he faced before
proceeding to trial pro se, or that he could have counsel
reappointed. Despite his evident abilities, even a skillful
defendant cannot make an intelligent choice without
knowledge of all facts material to the decision to represent
oneself. Silva, 108 Wn. App. at 541. Under these
circumstances, the significant additional penalties triggered an
obligation for the court to engage in an additional colloguy
with Mr. Phan.

The Court of Appeals decision is thus in conflict with

Modica and Silva, published decisions of the Court of Appeals.

This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Mr. Phan respectfully

requests that this Court grant review, as the Court of Appeals
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decision is in conflict with published decisions of the Court of
Appeals. This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(2).
This brief complies with RAP 18.17, containing
approximately 4,423 words.
DATED this 25th day of January, 2023.

Respectfully submitted,

JAN TRASEN (WSBA #41177)
Washington Appellate Project-(91052)
Attorneys for Petitioner
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION ONE
Respondent,
No. 82708-1-I
V.
PUBLISHED OPINION
TAN CHI PHAN,
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DWYER, J. — The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution
provides criminal defendants with two opposing yet fundamental rights: the right
to be represented by counsel and the right to represent oneself. Once the trial
court has found that a defendant has knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily
waived his right to counsel and elected to represent himself, it is not the trial
court’s function to second-guess the defendant’s decision. Neither is it the
court’s role to later talk the defendant out of it. However unwise a defendant’s
decision, the constitution respects the defendant’s right to make it.

In the trial court, Tan Phan elected to waive his right to counsel and
represent himself in defending against the criminal charges the State brought
against him. On appeal, however, Phan asserts that the trial court later erred
when it did not sua sponte conduct a second inquiry into his desire to represent
himself either after the State amended the information to add a second charge or

when Phan’s mental health allegedly deteriorated. We hold that, on the facts of
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this case, the trial court had no obligation to conduct a second colloquy, and
Phan’s waiver of counsel remained valid until he requested an attorney prior to
sentencing. Accordingly, we affirm Phan’s convictions.

I

On June 15, 2020, Tan Phan went to the home of Jerry and Linda Berger,
broke multiple windows, threatened the Bergers by brandishing a knife through a
broken window, and crashed his car into the side of their home. The State
charged Phan with attempted burglary in the first degree for the act of ramming
his vehicle into the home.

Early in the proceedings, Phan expressed the desire to represent himself.
On August 18, 2020, Judge Patrick Oishi conducted a colloquy with Phan to
ensure that he understood the rights he was surrendering and the risks of
proceeding pro se. Prior to the hearing, Phan’s appointed counsel reviewed the
waiver of counsel form with Phan, with the assistance of a Vietnamese
interpreter.

Judge Oishi explained to Phan that the maximum penalty for attempted
burglary in the first degree was 10 years in prison and a $20,000 fine. The trial
court also explained that attempted burglary in the first degree was a strike
offense.! Phan stated that he understood. The trial court then asked Phan
which court rules would apply to the case. When Phan indicated that he did not

understand the question, the trial court emphasized that Phan would be held to

1 A “strike offense” is an offense that qualifies as a “most serious offense” under RCW
9.94A.030(32). An individual convicted of three or more “most serious offenses” may be
sentenced as a persistent offender to life in prison without the possibility of parole. RCW
9.94A.030(37), .570.
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the same standard as an attorney and at trial would need to know the applicable
rules and laws. Phan then asked for standby counsel. Judge Oishi informed
Phan that there was no constitutional entitlement to standby counsel and that no
such attorney would be appointed in the case. The trial court then informed

Phan that he had the right to represent himself but

| think this is a terrible idea. It’s a terrible idea, because | know you
think you're smart and it sounds like you have done some studies
that might be helpful to you, but you're going to be held to such a
high standard you’re going to be completely on your own. That's
why | think this is a bad idea.

Phan responded, “Your Honor, | hear your concern and | know you have
empathy and sympathy for me.” The trial court stated that empathy and
sympathy had nothing to do with his warnings; “I just have been around long
enough to know that this almost never works out well.” Phan indicated, “I
understand my consequence, Your Honor. And | would like to proceed as a pro
se also.” Satisfied that Phan was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily
surrendering his right to counsel and that Phan understood the charge against
him and the possible consequences of his waiver, the trial court granted his
request. Phan also waived his right to a jury trial and opted to proceed to a
bench trial.?

Trial was conducted before Judge Catherine Shaffer from October 12 to
October 14, 2020. On October 8, 2020, prior to trial, the trial court conducted a

CrR 3.5 hearing, requested by Phan in an attempt to exclude statements he had

2 In this appeal, Phan assigns no error to the trial court’s decision to accept Phan’s
waiver of his right to a trial by jury.
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made to law enforcement. Shortly before the hearing, the State moved to amend
the information to add a charge of burglary in the first degree with a deadly
weapon enhancement, based on Phan’s act of threatening the Bergers with a
knife through the broken window. Phan stated that he had no objection to the
motion, waived a reading of the information on the record, and entered a plea of
not guilty to the new charge.

Phan then filed a bill of particulars, asking the State to clarify the basis for
its charges, particularly by stating what it alleged to be the “crime against a
person or property” that Phan intended to commit when entering the Berger
home.® The State informed Phan on the record that it was alleging that Phan
intended to commit assault against someone in the house and that he intended
to cause significant property damage.

Phan’s defense to both charges was that he lacked the ability to form the
requisite intent due to his mental health problems. After hearing the testimony of
multiple witnesses, the trial court convicted Phan on both charges. It then
entered its decision pursuant CrR 6.1(d), along with findings of fact and
conclusions of law supporting the convictions.

Phan then moved to have an attorney appointed to represent him at
sentencing. The trial court granted his request. At sentencing, Phan, through his
attorney, requested an exceptional downward sentence of 24 months of

incarceration on the basis of Phan’s mental health difficulties both prior to and

3 “A person is guilty of burglary in the first degree if, with intent to commit a crime against
a person or property therein, he or she enters or remains unlawfully in a building and if, in
entering or while in the building or in immediate flight therefrom, the actor or another participant in
the crime (a) is armed with a deadly weapon, or (b) assaults any person.” RCW 9A.52.020(1).
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after the incident, his failed mental health defense, youthfulness, and the COVID-
19 pandemic. The trial court rejected Phan’s request and sentenced him to 30
months on count one and 25 months on count two, to be served concurrently,
plus a mandatory consecutive 24 months for the deadly weapon enhancement,
for a total of 54 months of incarceration.
I
Phan asserts that the trial court erred by not sua sponte conducting a
colloquy with him on his desire to continue representing himself when the State
amended the information to add a charge of burglary in the first degree with a
deadly weapon enhancement. This is so, Phan asserts, because the new charge
and enhancement significantly increased the maximum possible penalty, and the
constitution requires that the court conduct another colloquy when there is a
significant change in circumstances. We disagree.
A
We review a trial court’s decision on a defendant’s request to proceed pro

se for abuse of discretion. State v. Burns, 193 Wn.2d 190, 202, 438 P.3d 1183

(2019). A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly
unreasonable, unsupported by the record, or based on an incorrect legal
standard. Burns, 193 Wn.2d at 202. We apply a correlating standard of review
to this odd situation—reviewing the trial court’s decision to do nothing to cause a
lawfully pro se defendant to change his mind.

The United States and Washington Constitutions provide criminal

defendants with the right to counsel, as well as the right to represent themselves
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at trial. U.S. ConsT. amend. VI, XIV; WASH. CONST. art. 1, § 22; Faretta v.
California, 422 U.S. 806, 819, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975); State v.
Luvene, 127 Wn.2d 690, 698, 903 P.2d 960 (1995). The right to self-
representation is “so fundamental that it is afforded despite its potentially
detrimental impact on both the defendant and the administration of justice.”

State v. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d 496, 503, 229 P.3d 714 (2010).

However, this right is neither absolute nor self-executing. Madsen, 168
Wn.2d at 504. A defendant wishing to invoke his right to self-representation must
make an affirmative, unequivocal demand to waive counsel and proceed pro se.
Luvene, 127 Wn.2d at 698. A trial court may deny the request only if the request
is equivocal, untimely, involuntary, or made without a general understanding of
the consequences. Burns, 193 Wn.2d at 202-03; Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 505.
For the trial court to properly accept a waiver of counsel, the record should
establish that “[the defendant] knows what he is doing and his choice is made

with eyes open.”” State v. Hahn, 106 Wn.2d 885, 889, 726 P.2d 25 (1986)

(quoting Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835).
Our Supreme Court has “strongly recommend[ed]’ that the trial court
conduct a colloquy on the record to assure that a defendant understands the

risks of self-representation. City of Bellevue v. Acrey, 103 Wn.2d 203, 211, 691

P.2d 957 (1984). “This colloquy should include a discussion about the
seriousness of the charge, the possible maximum penalty involved, and the

existence of technical procedural rules governing the presentation of the
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accused’s defense.” State v. Modica, 136 Wn. App. 434, 441, 149 P.3d 446

(2006), aff'd, 164 Wn.2d 83, 186 P.3d 1062 (2008).
B

Phan first argues that his initial waiver of counsel was invalid because the
trial court did not advise him of the maximum potential penalty for burglary in the
first degree. But Phan was not charged with burglary in the first degree at the
time of his waiver of counsel. A waiver of counsel is valid if the defendant
“accurately understands the penalty he or she faces at the time the waiver is
made.” Modica, 136 Wn. App. at 445. Phan cites no authority for the proposition
that a trial court must advise the defendant about the consequences of a crime

for which the defendant has not been charged. Were this the standard

there could never be a competent waiver of the assistance of
counsel inasmuch as few, if any, judges, and perhaps not even
lawyers, could deliver an impromptu dissertation in every case
covering all possible included offenses, the range of allowable
punishments, all possible defenses to the charges and
circumstances in mitigation thereof.

Arnold v. United States, 414 F.2d 1056, 1058 (9th Cir. 1969). We agree. Phan’s

argument is without merit.
C
Phan next contends that his initial waiver of counsel became invalid when
the State added a new charge and the trial court erred by not sua sponte
conducting a second colloquy. We disagree.
When a defendant makes a demand to represent himself, trial courts are

required to give “every reasonable presumption” against the defendant’s waiver
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of the right to counsel. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 504 (internal quotation marks

omitted) (quoting In re Det. of Turay, 139 Wn.2d 379, 396, 986 P.2d 790 (1999)).

While conducting its colloquy, the trial court may use all reasonable means to
dissuade the defendant from surrendering his right to counsel. But once a trial
court has found that the defendant has made a valid waiver of the right to
counsel, the stated presumption disappears and trial judges should not attempt
to impose their will upon a defendant who is exercising a constitutional right.

The United States Supreme Court explained why this is so in Faretta. As
the Supreme Court noted, the rights afforded in the Sixth Amendment, such as
the right to confront witnesses and the right to compulsory process, are personal
to the defendant, not to the defense attorney. Faretta, 422 U.S. at 819. The right
to represent oneself was not only implicit in the language of the Sixth
Amendment, but was well accepted as a matter of historical practice. Faretta,
422 U.S. at 822-32. For over 200 years, common law courts had accepted the
“nearly universal conviction . . . that forcing a lawyer upon an unwilling defendant
is contrary to his basic right to defend himself if he truly wants to do so.” Faretta,
422 U.S. at 817. Given this historic practice, there was no doubt in the Justices’
minds that the Sixth Amendment was enacted to respect the defendant’s free
choice. Inthe Court’s words, “although he may conduct his own defense
ultimately to his own detriment, his choice must be honored out of ‘that respect
for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law.” Faretta, 422 U.S. at 834

(emphasis added) (quoting lllinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 350-51, 90 S. Ct. 1057,

25 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1970) (Brennan, J., concurring)).
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When a trial court sua sponte induces a pro se defendant to engage in a
second colloquy, the purpose of which is to get the pro se defendant to second-
guess the defendant’s original unequivocal decision to waive counsel, the
defendant’s choice is not “be[ing] honored.” See Faretta, 422 U.S. at 834.

Given the respect the law affords to a defendant’s decision, lower federal
courts have held that “only a substantial change in circumstances will require the
[trial] court to inquire whether the defendant wishes to revoke his earlier waiver.”

United States v. Fazzini, 871 F.2d 635, 643 (7th Cir. 1989); accord United States

v. McBride, 362 F.3d 360, 367 (6th Cir. 2004); United States v. Hantzis, 625 F.3d

575, 582 (9th Cir. 2010). We adopted this approach in Modica. There, the
defendant asserted, as Phan does here, that the trial court was required sua
sponte to conduct a second colloquy after the State added a charge of witness
tampering. Modica, 136 Wn. App. at 444-45. We noted that “it is not ordinarily
incumbent upon a trial court to intervene at a later stage of the proceeding to
inquire about a party’s continuing desire to proceed pro se.” Modica, 136 Wn.
App. at 445. Rather, the rule adopted is that a valid waiver of the right to
counsel generally continues throughout the proceedings, unless the waiver was
limited to a particular stage of the proceedings or there has been a substantial
change in circumstances. Modica, 136 Wn. App. at 445. When applying this rule
to Modica’s case, we held that the mere addition of a new charge did not amount
to a substantial change in circumstances. Modica, 136 Wn. App. at 446.

Phan attempts to distinguish Modica on the basis that the new charge

against Modica was a lesser offense that would not have increased the maximum
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possible penalty, whereas here the new charge was a greater offense with a
deadly weapon enhancement that did increase the possible maximum penalty.
While initially having some appeal, upon scrutiny it is clear that the requirement
adopted in Modica is not so easily satisfied. Indeed, case law indicates that the
mere addition of a new charge, particularly when that charge is based on the
same set of facts alleged in the initial information, does not sufficiently alter the
defendant’s general understanding of the consequences of his decision to
represent himself so as to require the trial court to sua sponte intervene and once
again call into question the pro se defendant’s constitutionally protected decision
to employ self-representation.

Corresponding federal case law demonstrates that this is so. For

instance, in Arellanes v. United States, 302 F.2d 603, 610 (9th Cir. 1962), the

defendant argued that the court should have conducted an additional colloquy
when the district attorney filed an information charging the defendant as a repeat
offender, as the new allegation increased the maximum possible penalty. The
Ninth Circuit held that this event did not require intervention by the trial court.
Arellanes, 302 F.2d at 610. To the contrary, the circuit court stated that “it would
constitute an excessive burden to require the trial court to intervene at each
potentially separable stage of trial to conduct an inquiry respecting a party’s
continuing wishes with respect to counsel, when, as here, appellant’s continuing
state of mind respecting his original waiver is clear.” Arellanes, 302 F.2d at 610
(citation omitted). The court noted that this was not a situation in which the new

information “gives rise to a full-scale trial of complex issues.” Arellanes, 302 F.2d

10
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at 610. Rather, the only issue was whether the defendant was the same person
named as having the cited prior convictions, “a fact peculiarly within the
knowledge of defendant.” Arellanes, 302 F.2d at 611.

A more recent decision from the same court confirmed that this remains
the prevailing view. In analyzing a habeas petition, the circuit court rejected the
defendant’s contention that the trial court’s failure to advise him of the maximum
possible penalty, when the State requested posttrial to have the defendant
sentenced as a habitual offender, constituted a violation of clearly established

law. Arrendondo v. Neven, 763 F.3d 1122, 1136 (9th Cir. 2014). As the Ninth

Circuit noted, at the time that the defendant waived his right to counsel, he had
not been charged as a habitual offender. Arrendondo, 763 F.3d at 1133. The
court held that “[c]learly established Supreme Court law does not require a
defendant waiving his right to counsel to understand the potential application of
recidivist sentencing enhancements that had not yet been charged, and were not
required to have been charged, at the time of the waiver.” Arrendondo, 763 F.3d
at 1133.

For his part, Phan directs us to Jensen v. Hernandez, 864 F. Supp. 2d 869

(E.D. Cal. 2012), in which a federal trial court granted a habeas petition filed by a
defendant who was subject to an amended information alleging a sentencing
enhancement. After receiving a written concession from the California Attorney
General’s Office, the district court accepted the concession and ruled that the
addition of the sentencing enhancement to the information constituted a

substantial change in circumstances necessitating a second colloquy confirming

11
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the defendant’s desire to continue to represent himself, and that the state court’s
failure to do so entitled the defendant to habeas relief. Jensen, 864 F.Supp.2d at
900.

For several reasons, we are not persuaded by Jensen. First, one month
thereafter, the Ninth Circuit (in which the Jensen trial court is located), filed an
unpublished opinion in which it rejected an identical ruling reached by a judge of

the Southern District of California. See Becker v. Martel, 472 Fed. Appx. 823,

824 (9th Cir. 2012). Because the State conceded error in Jensen, similar
appellate review of the district court decision was not available. Second, unlike
in Jensen, the State here has not conceded that a substantial change in
circumstances took place that would have necessitated a second colloquy. And

third, the Jensen decision was filed two years before the Ninth Circuit’s contrary

decision in Arrendondo. For all of these reasons, we do not find Jensen to be an
authoritative decision.

Phan also points us to State v. Rhoads, 813 N.W.2d 880 (Minn. 2012). In

that case, the Minnesota Supreme Court held that when the State doubles the
maximum possible punishment by filing new charges, a prior waiver of counsel is
no longer valid.* Rhoads, 813 N.W.2d at 889-90. But Rhoads adopted the

reasoning of the Southern District of California’s ruling in Becker v. Martel, 789 F.

Supp. 2d 1235 (S.D. Cal. 2011), which, as previously noted, was subsequently

overturned by the Ninth Circuit. Becker, 472 Fed. Appx. at 824. Because it rests

4 In Rhoads, the defendant was initially charged with second degree burglary. The State
of Minnesota later added a charge of first degree burglary. 813 N.W.2d at 883.

12
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on such a shaky foundation, we decline to adopt Minnesota’s jurisprudential
approach to this issue.
D

We also decline to adopt a bright line rule as to that which constitutes
such a substantial change in circumstances that a second colloquy into the
defendant’s continued desire for self-representation is required. This is so
because the facts of this case do not require us to do so.

The record of the proceedings below demonstrates that Phan’s continuing
state of mind respecting his original waiver of counsel remained clear: he wished
to represent himself at trial.

At the hearing during which Phan initially waived his right to counsel, Phan
did not state that his waiver was conditioned on his understanding that the
maximum possible penalty that he faced would never be greater than 10 years
imprisonment. Indeed, Phan said nothing about the maximum possible penalty
other than that he understood what it was. The penalty Phan faced appears from
the record to have had no impact on his decision to validly waive his right to
counsel. Phan’s statements during the colloquy do indicate, however, that his
decision to waive his right to counsel was influenced by his experience
representing himself in court in Vietnam and his understanding of the elements of
the charge against him.

When the State moved to amend the information, the charge it sought to
add was one count of burglary in the first degree with a deadly weapon

enhancement. This charge was based on the same set of facts that it had

13
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already alleged in the initial complaint. The legal elements of both charges were
virtually the same. Nothing in the amended information changed the nature of
Phan’s defense. Phan’s defense to both charges was that he lacked the
requisite capacity to form the necessary intent to commit a crime against a
person in the house. This remained his defense throughout the case.

Had Phan believed that amendment of the information caused him unfair

surprise, he had a remedy in requesting a continuance. State v. Alvarado, 73

Wn. App. 874, 878, 871 P.2d 663 (1994). Not only did Phan not request a
continuance, he stated that he had no objection to the State’s motion to amend.
The trial court offered to read the amended information into the record, but Phan
stated that he did not wish the court to do so. Instead, Phan sought clarification
of both the original charge and new charge by filing a written bill of particulars,
which was immediately addressed on the record. At no time during this hearing
did Phan indicate that the danger of increased penalties caused him to question
the wisdom of continuing pro se.

Phan’s behavior during the trial similarly reflects his continued desire to
represent himself. Phan conducted cross-examination of all withesses, made
objections based on the evidence rules, and gave his own closing argument that
focused on the legal elements of the charges. At no point did Phan express that
he would like to have an attorney reappointed to take over his defense.

Moreover, after he was found guilty, Phan requested reappointment of an
attorney to represent him at sentencing. Thus, it is clear both that—all along—

Phan knew how to make such a request and also knew that—at all times—he

14
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had the ability to pose such a request to the court. It is clear, however, that—in
Phan’s mind—only after being convicted did the circumstances change
significantly enough for him to change his mind as to the wisdom of his pro se
status.

The record thus indicates that Phan was intent on representing himself
and that the addition of new charges did not affect his decision. The trial court
was not required to conduct a second colloquy sua sponte when Phan had
already made his decision clear. Moreover, the trial court was duty bound to
honor Phan’s decision and wisely chose not to engage in an inquiry that was not
necessary but might serve to overcome Phan’s free will. There was no error.

1]l

Phan further asserts that the trial court erred by not inquiring into his
mental competency to represent himself while the trial was ongoing. The State
contends that Phan showed no signs of mental incompetency during trial and the
trial court therefore had no duty to inquire about his ability to represent himself.
Although the parties focus on the factual dispute of Phan’s mental state, we
resolve this issue on a purely legal basis.

A

At the outset, we note that Phan does not argue that he was ever
incompetent to stand trial. Although often conflated under an umbrella of
‘competency,” the distinction between competency to stand trial and competency
to represent oneself is important, as the legal standards governing each are

vastly different.

15
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A “mentally incompetent defendant, though physically present in the

courtroom, is in reality afforded no opportunity to defend himself,” and,

accordingly, cannot be forced to undergo trial. Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162,

171,95 S. Ct. 896, 43 L. Ed. 2d 103 (1975) (quoting Caleb Foote, A Comment on

Pre-Trial Commitment of Criminal Defendants, 108 U. PA. L. REv. 832, 834

(1960)). The test for incompetency to stand trial asks whether the defendant
“lacks the capacity to understand the nature and object of the proceedings
against him, to consult with counsel, and to assist in preparing his defense.”

Drope, 420 U.S. at 171; accord Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402, 402, 80 S.

Ct. 788, 4 L. Ed. 2d 824 (1960). Washington imposes an ongoing obligation on
the trial court to order a competency hearing whenever there is reason to doubt
the defendant’s competency to stand trial. RCW 10.77.060(1)(a); State v.
McCarthy, 193 Wn.2d 792, 803, 446 P.3d 167 (2019).

However, these are not the standards that apply when, on appeal, for the
first time, a defendant asserts that despite being competent to stand trial, the
defendant was incompetent to defend pro se. As the United States Supreme
Court explained, the test for competency to stand trial asks whether the

(113

defendant is able to “consult with counsel” and “assist [counsel] in preparing his

defense.” Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164, 170, 128 S. Ct. 2379, 171 L. Ed.

2d 345 (2008) (quoting Drope, 420 U.S. at 171). This standard “assume(s]
representation by counsel and emphasize[s] the importance of counsel.”
Edwards, 554 U.S. at 174. Given that this assumption is necessarily

unwarranted when a defendant elects self-representation, “an instance in which a

16
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defendant who would choose to forgo counsel at trial presents a very different set
of circumstances, which . . . calls for a different standard.” Edwards, 554 U.S. at
174-75.

In Edwards, the defendant was twice found incompetent to stand trial and
ordered to be committed to a mental hospital in an effort to regain competency.
554 U.S. at 167-68. Edwards’ condition improved during his periods of
commitment, and he was eventually deemed competent to stand trial. Edwards,
554 U.S. at 168-69. Then Edwards requested to represent himself. Edwards,
554 U.S. at 168-69. The trial court denied the request, finding that Edwards’
history of mental illness and periods of incompetency rendered him incompetent
to defend himself regardless of his current fitness to stand trial. Edwards, 554
U.S. at 169. On appeal, Edwards asserted that the denial of his request
amounted to a violation of his constitutional right to self-representation.

Edwards, 554 U.S. at 169.

The Supreme Court disagreed. The Court noted that, given the variant
presentations of mental iliness, there may be some instances in which a
defendant “may well be able to satisfy Dusky’s mental competence standard [to
stand trial], for he will be able to work with counsel at trial, yet at the same time
he may be unable to carry out the basic tasks needed to present his own defense
without the help of counsel.” Edwards, 554 U.S. at 175-76. The Court ultimately

held:

[T]he Constitution permits judges to take realistic account of the
particular defendant’s mental capacities by asking whether a
defendant who seeks to conduct his own defense at trial is mentally

17
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competent to do so. That is to say, the Constitution permits States
to insist upon representation by counsel for those competent
enough to stand trial under Dusky but who still suffer from severe
mental illness to the point where they are not competent to conduct
trial proceedings by themselves.

Edwards, 554 U.S. at 177-78.
B
Washington courts have subsequently clarified the application of Edwards
to cases in which the defendant’s request to waive his right to counsel and

proceed pro se is granted. In In re Pers. Restraint of Rhome, 172 Wn.2d 654,

664, 260 P.3d 874 (2011), a personal restraint petitioner cited the Edwards
decision when contending that the federal constitution required the trial court to
find him competent before permitting him to represent himself at trial. Our
Supreme Court declined to read Edwards as establishing any such requirement,
noting that “Edwards does not require trial courts to evaluate a defendant’s
mental health status in order to secure a valid waiver of counsel.” Rhome, 172
Wn.2d at 665. Our Supreme Court held that Edwards, along with earlier
Washington precedent, permitted a trial court to consider the defendant’s mental
health when assessing whether a request for self-representation is knowing,
intelligent, and voluntary, but that the trial court is not constitutionally required to
conduct an independent determination as to the defendant’s competency to
proceed pro se. Rhome, 172 Wn.2d at 665. The court held open the question of
whether Washington law requires “a more stringent waiver of counsel for a
defendant whose competency is questioned.” Rhome, 172 Wn.2d at 665.

In the aftermath of the Rhome decision, Division Three of our court was

18
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asked by a defendant on appeal to decide the issue that the Supreme Court had
declined to address. That appellant urged the appellate court to hold that
“‘Washington law requires trial courts to consider a mentally ill defendant’s ability
to represent himself at trial before accepting a waiver of counsel.” State v.
Lawrence, 166 Wn. App. 378, 392, 271 P.3d 280 (2012) (emphasis added). The
appellate court refused to do so. Lawrence, 166 Wn. App. at 392.

The court cited several reasons for this refusal. The first reason cited by
the court was that requiring the trial court to inquire into a defendant’s mental
competency to represent himself would impose a duty inconsistent with the
results of earlier cases in which the Supreme Court had upheld a defendant’s
waiver of counsel even when the trial court had not inquired of the defendant’s
mental health in its colloquy.® Lawrence, 166 Wn. App. at 392. The second
reason given was that the facts presented by Lawrence did not warrant
announcement of a new rule. Lawrence, 166 Wn. App. at 393. And the third
reason given was that any such rule would be difficult, if not impossible, to apply
in practice. Lawrence, 166 Wn. App. at 394. The appellate court noted that not
every case warrants an inquiry into the defendant’s mental health and it would be
difficult to craft a rule that applied to some defendants and not to others. The
court further noted that current precedent already allows the trial court discretion
to reject a defendant’s request for self-representation if mental illness hinders the
defendant’s ability to knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waive his right to

counsel. Lawrence, 166 Wn. App. at 395. Accordingly, the court held that

5 See, e.g., State v. Hahn, 106 Wn.2d 885, 893, 726 P.2d 25 (1986).
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‘[m]andating the use of that discretionary authority in some difficult-to-define
subset of these types of cases will only limit trial court discretion at a time when it
is most needed and will not provide for any meaningful review.” Lawrence, 166
Whn. App. at 395.

Our precedent demonstrates that the trial court had no duty to inquire into
Phan’s mental health when assessing the validity of his waiver of counsel. So
long as, after engaging in a colloquy, the trial court was satisfied that Phan’s
waiver of counsel is knowing, voluntary, and intelligent, it was not required to
inquire further. Similarly, the trial court had no duty to reassess the validity of
Phan’s waiver of counsel absent any indication that he was no longer competent
to stand trial. The record contains no indication that the trial court suspected that
Phan was incompetent to stand trial, and Phan neither asserts nor establishes
that he decompensated to any such degree. There was no error.

v

Phan finally argues that the trial court erred by not imposing an
exceptional sentence downward due to his failed mental health defense. This
argument is without merit.

Sentences within the standard range are ordinarily not appealable. RCW
9.94A.585(1). A limited exception exists when the trial court refuses to exercise
its discretion or relies on an impermissible basis for refusing to impose a

downward exceptional sentence. State v. Schloredt, 97 Wn. App. 789, 801, 987

P.2d 647 (1999). “The court may impose a sentence outside the standard

sentence range for an offense if it finds, considering the purpose of this chapter,
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that there are substantial and compelling reasons justifying an exceptional
sentence.” RCW 9.94A.535. The trial court may impose a downward
exceptional sentence if it finds by a preponderance of the evidence that
mitigating circumstances exist. RCW 9.94A.535(1). Additionally, when the
defendant asserts mental health as the basis for a downward exceptional
sentence, the record must establish that the condition significantly impaired the
defendant’s ability to appreciate the wrongfulness of the conduct or conform their

conduct to the law. RCW 9.94A.535(1)(e); accord Schloredt, 97 Wn. App. at

801-02.

Phan argues that the trial court abused its discretion by not granting his
request to impose an exceptional downward sentence. But abuse of discretion is
not the standard by which we review standard range sentences. Instead, Phan
must demonstrate that the trial court refused to exercise any discretion or utilized
an impermissible basis for denying an exceptional downward sentence. He
demonstrates neither. Phan does not identify any legally impermissible basis
upon which the trial court acted. Nor does he show that the trial court refused to
exercise its discretion.

To the contrary, the record indicates that the trial court did consider
Phan’s mental health when imposing sentence. In recounting the offense and its
effects, the trial court stated that Phan’s actions were “absolutely” fueled by
mental illness and delusion, but that “it wasn’t the kind of behavior that amounts
to either diminished capacity or insanity.” The trial court expressed some

concern that Phan may still possess an unhealthy obsession with the victims and
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that this was concerning for their safety. The trial court also noted that, having
heard all of the evidence, “the state could have charged this more aggressively
than they did,” and Phan could have faced a much higher sentence.

Ultimately, the trial court found that Phan’s mental illness warranted a
lower sentence than it would otherwise have been inclined to impose, but did not
justify a sentence below the standard range. Because the trial court did not fail
to exercise its discretion and it did not impose a sentence on an unlawful basis,
Phan’s standard range sentence is not appealable.

Affirmed.

WE CONCUR:
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